THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2007-CP-23-3206  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001607

---

International Paper Company, Inc., .....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina State Energy Office, .....Respondent.

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 12-ALJ-30-0086-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000114

---

International Paper Company, Inc., .....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina State Energy Office, .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Robert L. Widener  
Erik P. Doerring

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Administrative Law Court (ALC) has “contested case” jurisdiction over the “biomass tax credit” determinations by the South Carolina State Energy Office (SEO).
2. Whether the SEO has the power to hold “contested case” hearings.
3. Whether the ALC has “appellate” jurisdiction over the “biomass tax credit” determinations by the SEO.
4. Whether the circuit court has jurisdiction to review the “biomass tax credit” determinations by the SEO.
5. Whether the circuit court erred in dismissing the complaint under Rule 12(b), SCRPC.
6. Whether the circuit court erred in not staying the case during the pendency of the appeal from the ALC rather than dismissing it.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a tax case. The fundamental question is whether the Administrative Law Court (ALC) or the circuit court has the power to review tax credit determinations by the South Carolina State Energy Office (SEO – respondent here). Thus far, the ALC and the circuit court have refused to review the SEO’s determinations.

The South Carolina Income Tax Act (the Income Tax Act)<sup>1</sup> grants corporations a tax credit for equipment and installation costs incurred to produce energy for commercial use from biomass resources. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-3620 (A) (Supp. 2012).<sup>2</sup> The Income Tax Act sets forth the following process for claiming this “biomass tax credit” on a corporation’s tax return:

---

<sup>1</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-10 (Rev. 2000) (Chapter 6 of Title 12 is the South Carolina Income Tax Act).

<sup>2</sup> The tax credit is limited to corporations by virtue of § 12-6-3620(A)’s provision that the credit is allowed against the tax imposed by § 12-6-530 (Rev. 2000) (corporate income tax) or license fees imposed by § 12-20-50 (Rev. 2000 & Supp. 2012) (corporate license fees).

1. The corporation must submit a “request for credit” to the SEO by January 31 of the year after the previous calendar year in which the qualifying equipment is placed into service. § 12-6-3620(D)(1).
2. The SEO “must notify” the corporation that it “qualifies for the credit and the amount of the credit” by March 1. *Id.*
3. After the SEO certifies the tax credit, the corporation may claim the tax credit on its tax return and, thereafter, the South Carolina Department of Revenue (the DOR) may require “any documentation that it deems necessary to administer the tax credit.” *Id.*<sup>3</sup>

The January 31 and March 1 deadlines are critical, because a corporation’s tax return must be filed by March 15. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-4970(B) (Rev. 2000).

In January 2011, Appellant International Paper (IP) submitted a tax credit request to the SEO for the 2010 calendar year. (R-I. 71-91). The SEO failed to certify the tax credit by the March 1 statutory deadline. (See R-I. 125-134). In March 2011, IP filed a request for a contested case hearing before the ALC to challenge the SEO’s failure to certify the requested tax credit. (R-I. 466).

In January 2012, Appellant International Paper (IP) submitted a tax credit request to the SEO for the 2011 calendar year. (R-I. 414-464). The SEO failed to certify the tax credit by the March 1 statutory deadline. (See R-I. 413). In March 2012, IP filed a request for a contested case hearing before the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (the ALC) to challenge the SEO’s failure to certify the requested tax credit. (R-I. 467). This case was consolidated with the 2011 case. (R-I. 10).

Initially, the SEO conceded that the ALC had “contested case” jurisdiction to review the SEO’s actions. (R-I. at 240, 253, 264). In the midst of discovery, however, the

---

<sup>3</sup> Granting the DOR the authority to administer the tax credit dovetails with the general provisions of the South Carolina Tax Code (Title 12) and the Act (Chapter 6 of Title 12). See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-4-10 (Rev. 2000) (creating the DOR to “administer and enforce the revenue laws of this State”) and § 12-6-20 (Rev. 2000) (the DOR “shall administer and enforce the taxes imposed by [the Act]”).

SEO changed its position and moved in October 2012 to dismiss the consolidated action, contending the SEO was not subject to the jurisdiction of the ALC. (R-I. 49).

The ALC held that it did not have “contested case” jurisdiction over the SEO’s decisions in this case. (R-I. 3-4). The ALC further held that it would have “appellate” jurisdiction over the SEO’s decisions in this case but, first, the SEO had to give IP notice and an opportunity to be heard on the failure to certify the requested tax credits and, second, the SEO had to then issue a “final agency decision” from which IP could then appeal. (R-I. 4-9). The SEO has not issued a final agency decision, and there appears to be no rules or procedures for obtaining any such decision. IP timely appealed the ALC’s order.

In January 2013, IP filed a petition for review of the SEO’s action in the Circuit Court. (R-II. 482-488). IP moved to stay the circuit court action during the pendency of the appeal from the ALC on the following grounds:

1. The SEO appeared to take the position that its determinations were not subject to any type of review by the ALC, and it was unclear whether the ALC had any jurisdiction over the SEO.
2. If the ALC had no jurisdiction over the SEO, then any judicial review must be had in the circuit court.
3. IP filed the circuit court action to avoid the danger of the appellate courts finding the ALC had no jurisdiction over the SEO and the statute of limitations for a circuit court action running during the pendency of the appeal from the ALC’s Order.

The SEO moved to dismiss the circuit court action. (R-II. 545-546). The circuit court denied IP’s motion to stay and granted the SEO’s motion to dismiss. (R-II. 472-480). IP moved to reconsider. (R-II. 490-494). The circuit court granted the motion and issued a new order, but nevertheless dismissed the action under Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCP, finding that the ALC action was substantially the same as the circuit court action. (R-II. 469-471). IP

timely appealed the circuit court's order. This Court granted IP's motion to consolidate the ALC and circuit court appeals.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

These consolidated appeals present the fundamental question of whether the SEO's biomass tax credit determinations are subject to judicial review by the ALC or the circuit court. The relevant statutes do not answer this question expressly and, therefore, the answer must be gleaned from the State Constitution and the General Assembly's intent as found in the relevant statutes.

The ALC erred in finding it did not have subject matter jurisdiction to hold a "contested case" regarding the SEO's biomass tax credit determinations. The relevant statutes, their purpose, and their structure demonstrate a legislative intent that disputes between the SEO and a biomass tax credit applicant be resolved by a contested case before the ALC.

Assuming the ALC correctly held that it does not have "contested case" jurisdiction over the SEO's biomass tax credit determinations, then the ALC correctly held that it has "appellate" jurisdiction over those determinations. The ALC also correctly held that the SEO was required to but had not yet given IP notice and an opportunity to be heard in a contested case and, therefore, the SEO had not yet issued a final decision that triggered IP's right to appeal to the ALC. The SEO did not appeal these rulings.

Assuming the ALC does not have "contested case" or "appellate" jurisdiction over the SEO's biomass tax credit determinations, judicial review must be afforded in the circuit court.

## ARGUMENTS

### I. The ALC has jurisdiction to review the SEO's biomass tax credit determinations.

Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina State Constitution mandates that any judicial or quasi-judicial determination by an executive agency is subject to judicial review:

*No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and opportunity to be heard, nor shall he be subject to the same person for both prosecution and adjudication, nor shall he be deprived of liberty or property unless by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly, *and he shall have in all such instances the right to judicial review.**

(All emphasis added). Here, the SEO's failure to certify the requested tax credit is a quasi-judicial decision that affects IP's private right to a tax credit for which it qualifies. That decision by the SEO is an "instance" for which the Constitution guarantees the right to judicial review. The ALC held that IP was entitled to notice and a hearing under Article I, Section 22. (R-I. 6). The SEO did not appeal this ruling.

Section 1-23-505(3) (Supp. 2012) defines a "contested case" as a proceeding in which "legal rights, duties, or privileges" are required by Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution are to be determined by the agency or the ALC "after an opportunity for hearing." Section 1-23-600(A) (Supp. 2012) mandates that the ALC "shall preside over all hearings of contested cases" as defined in Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution involving the executive branch departments defined in § 1-30-10 (Supp. 2012). Section 1-23-600(D) further provides that the ALC "also shall preside over all appeals from final decisions of contested cases" held pursuant to Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution with specific exceptions not relevant here. Thus, it is clear that IP is entitled to a "contested case" hearing after notice and an opportunity for hearing.

The only remaining question is whether the “contested case” is to be held before the SEO or the ALC.

**A. The ALC has “contested case” jurisdiction to review the SEO’s biomass tax credit determinations.**

Here, the ALC held it did not have “contested case” jurisdiction, because the SEO is not listed in § 1-30-10 (Supp. 2012). (R-I. 4). While this is true, it is also true that no law authorizes the SEO to determine a contested case, and § 48-52-410 (Rev. 2008) expressly provides that the SEO “must not function as a regulatory body.” Thus, the SEO does not meet the general APA definitions of an agency, to-wit: an executive branch department or officer “authorized by law to make regulations or to determine contested cases.” § 1-23-10(1) (Rev. 2005); see also § 1-23-310(2) (Supp. 2012) (each state department or officer “authorized by law to determine contested cases”). Accordingly, whether the SEO or the ALC must provide IP the contested case hearing required by Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution is a question that must be answered by gleaning the General Assembly’s intent from the relevant statutes, which include the statutes creating the SEO, creating the ALC, and creating the biomass tax credit at issue here. As demonstrated below, those statutes demonstrate a legislative intent that the ALC has “contested case” jurisdiction over the SEO’s tax credit determinations.

1. The Creation of the SEO and the Biomass Tax Credit

In 1992, the General Assembly enacted the “South Carolina Energy Efficiency Act,” which is set forth in Chapter 52 of Title 48. § 48-52-10 (Rev. 2008). This Act implements the State policy of having a “comprehensive state energy plan.” *Id.*; § 48-52-210(A) (Supp. 2012). The purpose of the “Plan for State Energy Policy” is to maximize environmental quality, maximize energy conservation and efficiency, and minimize the

cost of energy in South Carolina, including the development and use of “renewable energy sources.” § 48-52-210(A) and -210(B)(4) (Supp. 2012). Renewable energy sources include “biomass energy.” § 48-52-220 (Supp. 2012). The tax credit at issue here is part of the plan to encourage the development and use of energy from a “biomass resource.” § 12-6-3620(A) (Supp. 2012).

As part of the “South Carolina Energy Efficiency Act,” the General Assembly also created the SEO as the “principal energy planning entity for the State,” and its “primary purpose is to develop and implement a well-balanced energy strategy and to increase the efficiency of use of all energy sources” in South Carolina. § 48-52-410 (Supp. 2012). To that end, the General Assembly imposed numerous duties upon the SEO related to energy planning and use, including the following:

1. assist in “residential, commercial, governmental, industrial, and transportation conservation and efficiency” and encourage the use of renewable energy sources, § 48-52-420(1) (Rev. 2008);
2. promote “continued and expanded energy research and development programs geared toward the energy needs of the State,” *id.* at (2);
3. “evaluate and certify energy conservation products,” *id.* at (3);
4. develop mechanisms to promote “cost-effective energy” and the use of renewable energy sources, *id.* at (4);
5. assist in developing financial incentives for electric and gas utilities to use “cost-effective demand-side options in meeting future energy needs,” *id.* at (5);
6. promote the “adoption and use of energy efficient building codes and certification procedures for builders, heating and cooling specialists, and building inspectors,” *id.* at (6);
7. promote “energy efficiency in manufactured housing,” *id.* at (7);
8. promote pollution reduction and energy efficiency in transportation and vehicles, including the reduction of vehicle travel, *id.* at (8);

9. ensure that governmental bodies establish energy efficiency plans and become models for energy efficiency, including assisting the Department of Education in achieving energy efficiency in public schools, *id.* at (9);
10. be a “clearinghouse” for energy information and conduct long-range energy planning, *id.* at (10);
11. assist the Governor and General Assembly in issues related to “energy production, transportation, and use, *id.* at (11);
12. ensure that “any future energy strategy that promotes carbon-free, nongreenhouse gas emitting sources includes nuclear energy, renewable energy resources, and energy conservation and efficiency, *id.* at (12) (Supp. 2012);
13. submit an annual, detailed “state energy action plan” to the Governor and General Assembly, § 48-52-430 (Supp. 2012);
14. approve funding for any alternative energy usage or conservation studies by any state agency, § 48-52-435 (Rev. 2008);
15. develop “energy efficient code standards for state-owned and leased buildings,” § 48-52-610 (Rev. 2008);
16. approve and monitor the “energy conservation plan” for every state agency and public school district, § 48-52-620 (Supp. 2012);
17. certify an agency’s savings from an “energy conservation measure,” § 48-52-635 (Rev. 2008);
18. approve any “energy conservation products” to be purchased by state government, § 48-52-640 (Supp. 2012);
19. establish a “revolving loan fund for state agencies and political subdivisions of the State to use for energy conservation measures, ” §48-52-650 (Rev. 2008);
20. assist numerous governmental bodies, including all governmental bodies subject to the Consolidated Procurement Code, in the identification and procurement of “energy efficient” goods, drafting and enforcing “energy conservation standards” for the design and construction of buildings that are owned or leased-purchased by governmental bodies, and evaluating energy costs for buildings to be leased in whole or in part by governmental bodies, § 48-52-680 (Rev. 2008); and

21. receive reports regarding energy use and conservation by each agency. § 48-52-910 (Supp. 2012).<sup>4</sup>

Despite the breadth and depth of these duties, the General Assembly limited the funding and personnel available to the SEO for carrying out these duties: “Funding for the [SEO] must be derived from existing financial resources available to the State” and “[p]ersonnel for the [SEO] must be derived from the consolidation of existing state government personnel slots with no new FTE’s [full-time equivalents].” § 48-52-470 (Rev. 2008). As noted later, the imposition of these numerous duties, combined with the limitation on funding and personnel, make it exceedingly difficult – if not impossible – for the SEO to conduct a contested case hearing.

All of the foregoing duties and powers are imposed upon and granted to the SEO by the “South Carolina Energy Efficiency Act,” which is set forth in Chapter 52 of Title 48. In stark contrast, the General Assembly created and placed the tax credit at issue here in the “South Carolina Income Tax Act.”<sup>5</sup> This Act empowers the South Carolina Department of Revenue (DOR), not the SEO, to administer and enforce the provisions of the Act. § 12-6-20 (Rev. 2000). This power dovetails with the statutes creating the DOR, which expressly provide that the DOR “is created to administer and enforce the revenue laws of this State,” § 12-4-10 (Rev. 2000), and grant the DOR, not the SEO, the power to compromise and settle any tax liability. § 12-4-320(3), (4) (Rev. 2000). To that end, the

---

<sup>4</sup> The only “tax credit” power granted to the SEO in the Energy Efficiency Act relates to the \$750.00 tax credit granted to persons who purchase manufactured housing designated by federal agencies as meeting their energy efficiency requirements. § 48-52-870(A) (Supp. 2012). For this tax credit, the General Assembly authorized the SEO to “adopt rules *pursuant to this article* [Article 10 of Chapter 52, Title 48] to develop tax credit applications and administer the issuance of tax credits.” § 48-52-870(A) (Supp. 2012) (emphasis added). As shown later, the administration of the biomass tax credit at issue here is reserved unto the Department of Revenue, not the SEO. See nn.9-10 and accompanying text, *infra*.

<sup>5</sup> The “South Carolina Income Tax Act” is set forth in Chapter 6 of Title 12. § 12-6-10 (Rev. 2000). The tax credit at issue here is also set forth in Chapter 6 of Title 12. § 12-6-3620 (Supp. 2012).

General Assembly granted the DOR, not the SEO, the power to administer the tax credit and to require the taxpayer to provide supporting documentation. § 12-6-3620(D)(1) (Supp. 2012).

2. It will be exceedingly difficult – if not impossible – for the SEO to conduct the contested case (notice and hearing) required in this case.

As noted earlier, the funding and personnel available to the SEO is strictly limited by statute to existing funds and existing personnel – no new funding sources and no new personnel slots can be created for the SEO’s operations. § 48-52-470 (Rev. 2008). According to its website ([www.energy.sc.gov/contact](http://www.energy.sc.gov/contact)), the SEO has sixteen principal employees.<sup>6</sup> Nothing indicates the SEO has any employees with any experience or training in conducting a contested case. At least seven of these employees *a priori* would not be qualified by experience or training to conduct a contested case hearing on IP’s request for a biomass tax credit.<sup>7</sup> Thus, at most, the SEO apparently has nine employees that *might* be qualified to make the initial determination on a tax credit request and decide any subsequent contested case challenging that determination.

The limited funding and personnel available to the SEO, coupled with the multitude of duties expressly imposed upon the SEO (see Arg. I(A)(1), *supra*), and the absence of any statute authorizing or directing the SEO to conduct contested case hearings (or any type of hearing), makes it very unlikely that the General Assembly intended the SEO to conduct any contested case hearings. Moreover, given the extremely limited number of employees that might be qualified to be involved in the initial determination on a tax credit

---

<sup>6</sup> Director; Dep. Director for Admin. and Finance; Dep. Director for Programs; Auditor; Grant Coordinator 1; Internal Auditor; Project Coordinators (3); Program Asst.; Intern; Technical Assistance Manager; Public Info. Coordinator; Fiscal Analyst; Exec. Administrator; and Administration and Finance Coordinator.

<sup>7</sup> Deputy Director for Administration and Finance; Grant Coordinator 1; Internal Auditor; Intern; Public Information Coordinator; Executive Administrator; and Administration and Finance Coordinator

request and any subsequent contested case challenging that determination, there is a significant danger of violating the State Constitution.<sup>8</sup>

Article I, Section 22 of the State Constitution provides that no one “shall be subject to the same person for both prosecution and adjudication.” In other words, any SEO employees involved in making the initial determination on a tax credit request cannot be involved in any subsequent contested case challenge to that determination. *See Babcock Centers, Inc. v. Office of Audits*, 334 S.E.2d 112, 114 (S.C. 1985) (constitution not violated if employees deciding the challenge to an initial determination are different from the employees that made the initial decision). Thus, each tax credit request will need two different groups of employees available to make the initial determination and decide any subsequent challenge. Again, the limited funding and personnel available to the SEO, coupled with the multitude of duties expressly imposed upon the SEO (see Arg. I(A)(1), *supra*), and the absence of any statute authorizing or directing the SEO to conduct contested case hearings (or any type of hearing), makes it very unlikely that the General Assembly intended to place this burden on the SEO.

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