THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-40-0572
Appellate Case No. 2013-000114 (formerly 2013-001607)

International Paper Company, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina State Energy Office,Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 12-ALJ-30-0086-CC
Appellate Case No. 2013-000114

International Paper Company, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina State Energy Office,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2014

Keith C. McCook
Frank S. Potts
Office of General Counsel

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

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

IP filed two requests for de novo contested case hearings, one each regarding two tax credit applications. In response to a motion filed by the SEO, the ALC dismissed those requests for lack of jurisdiction. The ALC also observed that IP had yet to file any appeals. The ALC proceeded to then analyze his potential appellate jurisdiction and conclude that such jurisdiction would exist (if a future appeal were filed), that SEO had provided IP inadequate process, that until such process were afforded a final decision could not exist, and that after such a decision were issued, IP could then exercise its rights to appeal. The order then concludes with a remand. However, once the ALC concluded he lacked jurisdiction, he lacked any authority to proceed further. Accordingly, the remand was void and this court should affirm that fact by vacating that portion of the order accordingly. Likewise, everything else in the order not necessary to rule on the motion to dismiss was dicta and does not bind the parties.¹⁰

IP asks this Court to reverse the ALC and rule that the ALC has the authority, after a de novo trial-type hearing, to certify eligibility of IP's application for biomass resource energy tax credits and to determine the amounts of any such credits. Not the SEO. However, the ALC lacks authority to conduct a contested case hearing under Section 1-23-600(A) because the State Energy Office is not a "department of the executive branch of government as defined in Section 1-30-10." Accordingly, the ALC's

¹⁰ If the court concludes the remand is valid, then the IP's entire appeal must be dismissed because a valid order remanding a case for additional proceedings is not directly appealable. Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 399 S.C. 566, 571, 733 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2012) ("In [granting the respondent's motion to dismiss the appeal in Montjoy v. Asten-Hill Dryer Fabrics, 316 S.C. 52, 446 S.E.2d 618 (1994)], we relied upon the final judgment rule articulated in section 1-23-390 of the APA and observed that 'we have consistently held that an order of the circuit court remanding a case for additional proceedings before an administrative agency is not directly appealable.' Although Montjoy involved a Commission case, its holding applies to all administrative agencies subject to the APA.") (footnotes and citations omitted).

dismissal of IP's request for a contested case hearing should be affirmed.

If this Court affirms the ALC on this point, IP then asks this Court to rule that the ALC has jurisdiction to hear an appeal under Section 1-23-600(D); however, IP has never invoked the ALC's appellate jurisdiction – it simply never filed an appeal of any decision of any agency. Accordingly, a ruling on the ALC's potential appellate jurisdiction is unnecessary to affirm or reverse the order on appeal.

IP also asks this court to effectively rule on the merits of such an appeal, had it been filed; IP asks this court to conclude that the process afforded by SEO was inadequate, that due to the (later contended) alleged deficiencies of that process, the SEO has not yet issued a final agency decision, and that IP's right to appeal to the ALC has thus not yet been triggered. As relief, IP asks this court to validate a void remand, order SEO to conduct a contested case hearing after notice, and issue a final decision – all so IP can then appeal (for the first time) to the ALC. Some of these issues might be proper for review, had any appeal ever been filed. In the absence of an appeal to the ALC, these issues should not be addressed.

If this Court finds it necessary to address the ALC's potential future appellate jurisdiction, this Court should rule that the ALC lacks jurisdiction to hear an appeal under Section 1-23-600(D) because neither law nor constitution mandates that a hearing be conducted by the State Energy Office before it can decline to certify eligibility for a biomass resource energy tax credit. In order for the ALC to have appellate authority, some legal authority – either a law or constitution – must require a hearing – not just notice and an opportunity to be heard, but a hearing. No law so provides. With regard to Art. 1, § 22, our Supreme Court has recently adopted a Due Process Clause analysis. South Carolina Ambulatory Surgery Center Assoc. v. South Carolina Workers'

Compensation Comm'n, 389 S.C. 380, 699 S.E.2d 146 (2010). Under that analysis, notice and an opportunity to be heard are not constitutionally necessary unless a protected interest is at stake, *i.e.*, life, liberty, or property. If such an interest exists, appellate authority at the ALC still does not exist unless the minimum process required by the constitution is a hearing. Only then is the statutory prerequisite (the requirement that some law requires a hearing) satisfied, such that the ALC would have appellate jurisdiction. The interest at issue is IP's interest in a tax credit made possible by compliance with an energy statute. Only if that statute creates an entitlement would IP have an interest sufficient to trigger the constitution. No court has ever found the possibility of eligibility for a tax credit to create an entitlement. Even if this court should conclude otherwise, this Court should not conclude that the State must conduct a hearing on every application for this tax credit before it may decide whether or not to exercise its discretion to certify expenditures – that the minimal process required by the constitution is a hearing.

International Paper also filed an action in circuit court seeking the same relief sought before the ALC. If Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCPP, is to have any meaning, Judge Cooper must be affirmed. Rule 12(b)(8) provides for dismissal if there is “another action pending between the same parties for the same claim.” IP represented as much to the court.¹¹

I. The ALC correctly determined that it lacked jurisdiction under Section 1-23-600(A) because the State Energy Office is not a department of the executive branch of government as defined in Section 1-30-10.

The Administrative Law Court is an agency of the executive branch of the State

¹¹ Transcript of Record of hearing held May 16, 2013 at p. 27, ll. 19-21. (R. p. 604, ll. 19-21). At the first hearing before Judge Cooper on May 16, 2013, counsel for International Paper advised the court that “there’s an identity of parties and an identity of issues. Of course there are. It’s the identical parties and the identical issues.” Id.

of South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-500 (Supp. 2013). As an administrative agency, the court has only such powers as have been conferred on it by law and must act within the authority created for that purpose. Bazzle v. Huff, 319 S.C. 443, 445, 462 S.E.2d 273, 274 (1995).

Section 1-23-600(A), which is a general grant of jurisdiction to the ALC regarding non-appellate contested case hearings, provides the ALC with authority to:

preside over all hearings of contested cases as defined in Section 1-23-505 or Article I, Section 22, Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, involving the departments of the executive branch of government as defined in Section 1-30-10

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600(A) (Supp. 2013). Therefore, in order for the ALC to assume jurisdiction over a contested case under this grant of jurisdiction, the case must involve one of the “departments of the executive branch of government as defined in Section 1-30-10. . . .”

In this case, it is indisputable that the State Energy Office is not a department within the executive branch of government as defined in Section 1-30-10(A). Section 1-30-10(A) defines the departments of the executive branch by listing them; neither the Budget and Control Board nor the State Energy Office is identified. Consistently, the other two entities with which it is authorized to consult about the biomass energy tax credits are also not part of the executive departments subject to ALC jurisdiction.

The Administrative Law Court’s December 19, 2012 decision that it lacked jurisdiction to grant International Paper a de novo contested case hearing pursuant to Rule 11, SCALCR, was correct and should be sustained. There was no statutory authority for the ALC to continue.

II. International Paper never filed an appeal of any agency decision; in the absence of authority to hear an appeal under Section 1-23-600(D) or to conduct a contested case hearing under Section 1-23-600(A), the ALC’s order

of remand is void and should be vacated for lack of jurisdiction.

A. Remand is void.

Without any express instruction, the Order on appeal concludes by remanding to the State Energy Office. As the ALC acknowledged in his order, International Paper never filed an appeal of any agency decision.¹² In the absence of an appeal, and assuming the ALC has no contested case jurisdiction (see argument above), the ALC lacked any basis for jurisdiction over the matters pending – a conclusion expressly adopted by the ALC. (Order of December 19, 2012, at p. 8) (R. p. 8). (“Therefore, this Court has neither contested case subject matter jurisdiction nor appellate jurisdiction in this matter.”). Without an appeal, an administrative body lacks the authority to hear the appeal. S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 380 S.C. 349, 377, 669 S.E.2d 899, 914 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Because the appeal was untimely and the DHEC Board lacked jurisdiction, the ALC could not invoke jurisdiction to hear the matter.”) overruled on other grounds 390 S.C. 418, 702 S.E.2d 246 (2010); Mears v. Mears, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985) (“Service of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.”). In the absence of authority to hear a matter, a court lacks authority to take any action other than dismissal. Ross v. Richland County, 270 S.C. 100, 101, 240 S.E.2d 649, 650 (1978) (“We conclude a court without jurisdiction only has authority to dismiss the action.”); Triska v. Department of Health and Environmental Control, 292 S.C. 190, 194, 355 S.E.2d 531,

¹² International Paper has not argued otherwise. (Brief of Appellant, p. 2) (“In March 2011, IP filed a request for a contested case hearing before the ALC to challenge the SEO’s failure to certify the requested tax credit. . . . In March 2012, IP filed a request for a contested case hearing before the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (the ALC) to challenge the SEO’s failure to certify the requested tax credit.”).

533 (1987) (“DHEC is a state administrative agency and can only exercise those powers which have been conferred upon it by the South Carolina General Assembly. . . . Any action taken by DHEC outside of its statutory and regulatory authority is null and void.”). Accordingly, the ALC’s order of remand is void and should be vacated. Allison v. W.L. Gore & Associates, 394 S.C. 185, 189, 714 S.E.2d 547, 550 (2011) (“Since the Full Commission lacked jurisdiction to hear respondent's appeal, the decision of that Commission as well as the master's order are VACATED.”).¹³

B. Even if this Court concludes that the ALC, despite its lack of jurisdiction, had authority to order a remand, a remand had no practical effect and was unwarranted.

But for the remand, no hint of potential ambiguity would remain regarding the finality of the agency’s determinations in this matter and the expiration of the administrative appeal periods associated with each. For all the reasons offered above, this matter would be concluded – at least for purposes of any further administrative review.¹⁴ The State Energy Office had already issued final decisions regarding both tax credit certification requests. Nevertheless, with the remand, at least a question remains as to why the Administrative Law Court issued a remand, particularly when the order included no instructions on remand (the State Energy Office was not ordered to do anything).

A remand served no practical purpose unless at least one of the agency’s decisions was not considered final – giving IP an entirely new opportunity to appeal. Such a goal is suggested by dicta from the order stating that “a contested case hearing was required before any final determination could have been issued.” (Order dated

¹³ In its Brief, Appellant repeatedly observes that that “[t]he SEO did not appeal these rulings.” (e.g., Appellant’s Brief, at p. 4-5). Much of the order below, including the remand, was unnecessary to decide whether to dismiss the request for a contested case hearing. Accordingly, that portion of the order is not the law of the case. Weil v. Weil, 299, S.C. 84, 382 S.E.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1989) (“The doctrine of the law of the case is not applicable to a statement by the court which does not constitute a binding adjudication.”).

¹⁴ Obviously, proceedings in circuit court are a separate matter.

December 19, 2012, at p. 9 n. 10) (R. p. 9, n. 10). Despite acknowledging the lack of authority to determine whether or not the March 1, 2011 letter was final, the ALC appears to be attempting to offer International Paper a second bite at the apple. Whatever the ALC's intent, this is exactly the solution IP now seeks, as clearly reflected in its appellate brief:

As noted earlier, the ALC held that it has appellate jurisdiction over the SEO's tax credit determinations under the following analysis: (1) the SEO's determinations in this case triggered a right held by IP that it be given notice and an opportunity to be heard; (2) the SEO had not yet given the required notice and hearing; (3) after notice and a hearing, the SEO could issue a final decision; and (4) after the SEO issued its final decision, IP could then appeal to the ALC. . . . Thus, if this Court agrees that the ALC does not have 'contested case' jurisdiction, then the matter must be remanded to the SEO for a contested case hearing after notice. The SEO must thereafter issue a final decision, and then IP can appeal to the ALC.

(Initial Brief of Appellant, at p. 17.). Even if this Court concludes that the ALC, despite its lack of jurisdiction, had authority to order a remand, a remand has no practical effect because the agency had, in fact, issued final agency decisions for which the administrative appeal periods long ago expired:

1. Even if valid, the remand had no practical effect because the time to appeal from the agency's final decisions has expired.

On January 31, 2011, International Paper filed an application with the State Energy Office requesting that various expenditures in calendar year 2010 be certified as eligible for the biomass resource tax credit. On March 1, 2011, the State Energy Office issued a letter that International Paper has claimed "was a final agency determination by the State Energy Office." International Paper had thirty days to appeal that determination to the ALC. (Rule 33, SCALCR.) Having never appealed that decision, the time to do so has passed.

On January 30, 2012, International Paper filed another application with the State

Energy Office requesting that various expenditures be certified as eligible for the biomass resource tax credit. This application regarded expenditures made during calendar year 2011. On March 1, 2012, the State Energy Office issued a final agency decision regarding this application (reiterated on March 15, 2012 with an additional explanatory footnote). Again, International Paper had thirty days to appeal to the ALC. (Rule 33, SCALCR) Having never appealed that decision, the time to do so has passed.

Because the appeal period for both decisions had already passed, the remand had no practical effect. Once the agency issued final decisions, nothing further remained for it to do on a remand.

- a. *International Paper is now judicially estopped from arguing that the March 1, 2011 determination is not a final agency decision.*

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